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          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Welcome to this

          3  hearing of the Finance Committee.

          4                 My name is David Weprin, and I chair

          5  the Committee.

          6                 Today, we have two items for

          7  consideration before us.  The first is a

          8  Preconsidered Intro. Extending the Department of

          9  Finance for authority to sell tax liens for six

         10  months until August 31st, 2006.

         11                 The Tax Lien Sale Program was created

         12  by the City Council in 1996, and has been extended a

         13  number of times.  The last extension was in 2004.

         14                 Since we have some members who may

         15  not be familiar with the Program, I want to give a

         16  brief background.

         17                 Prior to 1996 when property taxes

         18  were delinquent, leading to a tax lien on a piece of

         19  property, the City's only recourse was to foreclose

         20  on the lien in court and take the property.  This

         21  was very cumbersome, and was not often done by the

         22  City.  When it was done, these properties tended to

         23  remain in the City's possession for very long

         24  periods, putting the City in the unwanted role of

         25  owning a large number of properties without much of
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          2  a plan for maintaining, improving or disposing of

          3  them.  Because the City did not want to own an

          4  increasing number of properties, it rarely enforced

          5  the liens.  Many believe there was a perception that

          6  nothing would happen if a property owner failed to

          7  pay his or her taxes.

          8                 The Tax Lien Program allows the

          9  Department of Finance to sell liens on property in

         10  bulk sales by securitizing these bulk sales.  The

         11  liens are sold to a trust, which gives the City

         12  money up front, and packages the liens in bond

         13  issues, which are sold to institutional investors.

         14                 Instead of the City having to try and

         15  collect delinquent property taxes, it gets most of

         16  its money up front, and the servicers hired by the

         17  trust collect the outstanding charges, and have the

         18  right to foreclose on the property.

         19                 Tax lien sales have raised about $2

         20  billion in new revenue for the City.  This number

         21  includes over $1 billion generated from the sales of

         22  bonds by the trust, and almost that much in

         23  voluntary payments made by delinquent property

         24  owners during the periods when notices of the lien

         25  sales were sent out. The decline in the property tax
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          2  delinquency rate allowed the City to realize about

          3  $200 million in additional property tax collections

          4  annually from this Program.

          5                 The Tax Lien Sale Program sunsets

          6  today.  The Administration has requested a six-

          7  month extension so that they can conduct their

          8  spring or summer tax lien sale, and so that we may

          9  consider any amendments to the Program during this

         10  time.

         11                 I know Council Member Yassky and I

         12  have proposed an amendment that would protect low-

         13  income seniors from being forced into tax lien

         14  sales, and I would be open to hearing from my

         15  colleagues about any other changes they believe

         16  could improve the Program.

         17                 In addition, we will consider

         18  Proposed Reso. 92- A, which would set March 22nd as

         19  the date this Committee will take up the Local Law

         20  to establish the Flatbush- Nostrand Junction

         21  Business Improvement District in Brooklyn.

         22                 Under the BID Law, the dates for

         23  required hearings to establish a new BID must be set

         24  by a resolution.  At that hearing, we will hear all

         25  those who may be affected by the establishment of
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          2  the BID who wish to speak, and then we will adjourn

          3  until the statutory 30 day objection period has run,

          4  before we can act on the Local Law establishing the

          5  BID.

          6                 I am going to introduce my colleagues

          7  that are here. Council Member Oliver Koppell from

          8  the Bronx, Council Member Vincent Gentile from

          9  Brooklyn, our Deputy Majority Leader, Council Member

         10  Leroy Comrie from Queens, Council Member David

         11  Yassky from Brooklyn, Council Member Helen Sears

         12  from Queens, and Council Member Maria Baez from the

         13  Bronx.

         14                 We will have other members join- and

         15  Council Member Gale Brewer from Manhattan, Council

         16  Member Albert Vann from Brooklyn coming in.  We will

         17  have other members coming in shortly but first we

         18  will hear testimony from Deputy Commissioner of the

         19  Department of Finance, Sam Miller.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  Thank

         21  you, good morning Chairman Weprin and members of the

         22  Finance Committee.

         23                 I am Sam Miller, Assistant

         24  Commissioner for Communications and Customer Service

         25  at the New York City Department of Finance.  In this

                                                            8

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  position I oversee the annual tax lien sale. With me

          3  is Margaret Donadio, our superb Tax Lien

          4  Ombudsperson, and also Chris Browne, to my left, our

          5  terrific new Senior Director for Legislative

          6  Affairs.

          7                 Thank you for inviting me to testify

          8  on behalf of Finance Commissioner Martha E. Stark on

          9  the bill before you today, introduced at the request

         10  of Mayor Michael R. Bloomberg by Chairman Weprin.

         11                 We strongly support this bill, which

         12  simply extends the City's authority to sell tax

         13  liens from today, when the current law expires,

         14  through August 31, 2006.

         15                 The annual tax lien sale, as you

         16  noted, has allowed the City to collect more than $2

         17  billion in delinquent property tax and water charges

         18  that otherwise would be very difficult for the City

         19  to realize.  At the same time, the lien sale has

         20  increased voluntary payments, and reduced the number

         21  of foreclosures faced by owners who owe outstanding

         22  debt to the City.

         23                 Because you so eloquently described,

         24  Chairman Weprin, I will skip a little description of

         25  how that works, and get to the next part of my
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          2  testimony.

          3                 The overwhelming majority of owners

          4  avoid foreclosure, but having a lien sold on your

          5  property is costly. For this reason, while we have

          6  used the lien sale as an effective and efficient

          7  collection tool, we have taken several steps to make

          8  it as easy as possible for owners to avoid having a

          9  lien sold.  We would rather collect the delinquent

         10  charges without having to sell a lien, and during

         11  the last four years, we have succeeded in reducing

         12  the number of liens sold each year.  I will describe

         13  how we have done that in a minute.

         14                 Finance identifies properties that

         15  are in danger of having a lien sold through the

         16  following criteria:  For small homes, residential

         17  condominiums and cooperative apartments, an owner is

         18  at risk if she owes more than $1,000 in property

         19  taxes that has been delinquent for at least three

         20  years; for commercial condos and apartment

         21  buildings, utility properties and commercial

         22  buildings, an owner is at risk if he owes more than

         23  $1,000 for at least one year.

         24                 In March, we take this pool of

         25  potential liens and send owners a notice of our
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          2  intent to sell a lien if they do not resolve their

          3  debt within 60 days.  We also publish this list of

          4  properties in the Daily News, and take out ads in

          5  other daily papers and community papers across the

          6  City, and post the liens on our website.  Thirty

          7  days later, we send a second notice to owners, and

          8  ten days before the sale, we send a final notice and

          9  publish the list in the newspapers again, all the

         10  while updating the list on our website.

         11                 Finally, 60 days after the initial

         12  notice, the City sells a lien on the property if the

         13  debt is not resolved, and I should just emphasize

         14  that we are not selling the properties, we are

         15  selling the right to collect the debt, as Chairman

         16  Weprin noted.

         17                 Approximately 30 days later, 90 days

         18  after the initial notice that we mail, the owner

         19  receives a letter from Finance with the contact

         20  information for the servicer that will then begin

         21  trying to collect the debt.

         22                 So that is a brief overview of the

         23  process.  And let me just tell you a little bit

         24  about how we have improved voluntary compliance each

         25  year.
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          2                 This is extremely important, as I

          3  mentioned, because we know that most owners want to

          4  pay what they owe if given the opportunity to do so,

          5  and voluntary compliance is the most efficient

          6  collection method.  Our priority is to make it as

          7  easy as possible for delinquent owners to comply.

          8                 We have done this in several ways,

          9  and I am sure many of you are aware of some of the

         10  things we have done.

         11                 We have worked with members of the

         12  Council to conduct outreach sessions in every

         13  borough, every year, giving owners a chance to meet

         14  with the Finance Department, the Department of

         15  Environmental Protection, HPD, after work hours to

         16  make it as easy as possible to come talk to us, and

         17  resolve their debt.

         18                 The DEP has kept its offices open

         19  late during the notice period to help customers, and

         20  HPD has joined us in an effort to protect owners

         21  against predatory lenders, and to offer loan and

         22  other advice.

         23                 We are also working with HPD on

         24  outreach to owners who are delinquent but are not

         25  yet at risk of having a lien sold to try to get them
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          2  some notice earlier in the process.

          3                 We have made it easier for people to

          4  pay be placing a tax lien ombudsperson in every

          5  borough during the noticing period, adding coupons

          6  to the notices, allowing owners to pay by personal

          7  check, and offering more owners installment

          8  agreements.

          9                 Last spring, with your help in this

         10  Committee, we passed a law that made our application

         11  of interest charges fairer. Before the law, as you

         12  recall, when we discovered a misapplied payment and

         13  re- opened a charge going back several years, by law

         14  we would charge the unwitting owner interest back to

         15  the original due date.  We did this even when the

         16  error was made by Finance, not the owner.  This was

         17  unfair, and it often caused owners to be at risk of

         18  having a lien sold, since the charges were often

         19  more than three years old.  With your help, last

         20  spring, we changed that so when we open charge, we

         21  allow the owner time to pay without interest.

         22                 As a result of these changes, we have

         23  been able to collect a bigger percentage of debt

         24  during the noticing period each year, selling fewer

         25  and fewer liens.  This is due, in part, to smaller
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          2  lien pools which reflect factors such as the

          3  improving economy, and the $400 property tax rebate

          4  has also been a factor. But, we also believe that it

          5  reflects our commitment, and our administrative

          6  changes that have allowed people to meet their

          7  obligations before we sell a lien on their property.

          8                 We are gearing up for the 2006 lien

          9  sale in the hopes that you pass this bill today.  If

         10  that happens, we will be contacting you and your

         11  colleagues shortly to arrange for a briefing on the

         12  sale, and how you can help your constituents avoid

         13  having liens sold on their properties, as we have

         14  done every year. At that meeting, we will also

         15  provide information about other work that we are

         16  doing based on the feedback and the calls we get

         17  from you, we are going also talk about rebate and

         18  parking issues.

         19                 So, the bill before you today extends

         20  the current law for six months.  I know that

         21  Chairman Weprin and Council Member Yassky have

         22  already offered a legislative change to the law to

         23  protect seniors, as you mentioned.

         24                 We look forward to discussing that

         25  and other proposals in the coming months, after we
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          2  complete another successful lien sale with the

          3  passage of this extender bill.

          4                 So once again, I thank you for having

          5  us, and would be happy to take any questions.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you, Mr.

          7  Miller.

          8                 We have been joined by some more

          9  colleagues since the last round of introductions.

         10                 We have Council Member Peter Vallone,

         11  Jr. From Queens, Council Member Eric Gioia from

         12  Queens, Council Member Mike McMahon from Staten

         13  Island, Council Member Diana Reyna from Brooklyn.  I

         14  saw Council Member Robert Jackson from Manhattan

         15  somewhere around in the back, and I recognize the

         16  voice, and we have also been joined by Council

         17  Member Stewart whose district is the location of the

         18  proposed BID, and after we finish with discussion on

         19  the tax lien sale, I would like to ask Council

         20  Member Stewart to make a statement before we

         21  entertain any further discussion about the proposed

         22  Flatbush BID.

         23                 I believe we have a couple of- oh, we

         24  have also been joined by our Majority Leader,

         25  Council Member Joel Rivera from the Bronx.
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          2                 I believe Council Member Yassky had a

          3  question.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you,

          5  Chair Weprin.

          6                 I have a few questions.  First of

          7  all, do you know how many of the liens that we sold

          8  over the last year, say, were for homes owned by

          9  seniors and particularly, low- income seniors?

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  I

         11  believe we do have statistics.  I believe that we

         12  took a look at, over the last ten years, and found

         13  that the number of liens, the number of properties

         14  that had liens sold, that had either a senior

         15  citizen exemption, or a veterans exemption was 200

         16  properties in total, and I do not remember what the

         17  senior citizen number was.  We can find out.  It was

         18  a very small number.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Well, let me

         20  ask you, what then- given that, what do you think of

         21  the proposal that the Chair and I put in to give

         22  seniors, low- income seniors the opportunity to stay

         23  in their homes, and defer payment?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  I

         25  think it is definitely something that we should talk
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          2  about.  We are open to discussing it.

          3                 Right now, I think the priority is to

          4  get an extender of the current law.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Well look, I

          6  understand what we are doing.  I understand the

          7  timing of this, that we are sitting here today, and

          8  the program is going to expire, and this is- we need

          9  to vote today to give you the ability to keep doing

         10  it.  Your statement says`we look forward to

         11  discussing other proposals in the fall,' and it is

         12  March 1st.  The fall is a long way away.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:

         14  Right, well I was just, I meant in the future.  I

         15  picked fall because if you extend it now it is going

         16  to expire on August 31st.  That is the only reason I

         17  said that.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Right.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  We

         20  can certainly discuss it before then, absolutely.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Okay, to be

         22  clear.

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  Okay.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  It would be

         25  me assumption is that I will vote for this today,
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          2  but I certainly am going to want to discuss, and

          3  have this one resolved before the six month period

          4  is up.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:

          6  Absolutely, that was a mis- statement.  We can

          7  discuss it way before August 31st.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Okay, and

          9  then I have a question.

         10                 We talked with the Department, this

         11  is some months back, about trying to do something

         12  similar for Class IV properties, as a way to get

         13  some more protected manufacturing space, an idea

         14  that I think now would go very, very well with other

         15  initiatives that the Administration is pursuing over

         16  at the Department of Small Business Services, to

         17  expand the dedicated manufacturing space, things

         18  like the Brooklyn Navy Yard.

         19                 Has the Department looked any further

         20  at that?  In our initial conversations, the

         21  Department said you would look at it, and get back

         22  to us?

         23                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  I am

         24  sorry, I do not know how far we have gotten in

         25  looking at that, but I will check on that and get
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          2  back to you.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  And do you

          4  understand what I am getting at here?  What I am

          5  saying is you are only doing this now Class I and

          6  Class II, as I understand it.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  The

          8  Tax Lien Sale?

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Yes.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  No,

         11  the Tax Lien Sale applies--.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  I am sorry, I

         13  apologize.               What I am talking about is

         14  where you take properties out of the Tax Lien Sale

         15  and give them to third parties to redevelop, this

         16  Third- Party Transfer Program.

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  Oh,

         18  right that is the Housing Preservation Development

         19  does that, not the Department of Finance.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  And they do

         21  that with- for Class I and Class II?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  Yes,

         23  but I do not- my understanding is, and I would

         24  double check with HPD, it is primarily residential

         25  but there are some commercial properties as well
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          2  that they do that for.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  I think that

          4  would be where they intend for redevelopment as

          5  housing.  In other words, it will be in conjunction

          6  with a, presumably, rezoning rather than a variance

          7  where they intend to redevelop as housing.

          8                 What I am interested in is can we do

          9  the same thing for manufacturing properties where we

         10  hope they will stay manufacturing, but we want them

         11  to put them into the hands of a non- profit that

         12  will create dedicated manufacturing space.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  I

         14  think that is something that I would definitely want

         15  to take up with the Mayor's Office of Industrial

         16  Manufacturing Businesses, and also HPD.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  I would like

         18  to pursue that with you.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  Okay.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Thank you.

         21                 Thank you, Chair Weprin.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.

         23                 We have also been joined by a few

         24  more colleagues. We have Council Member Dennis

         25  Gallagher from Queens, and Council Member Jim
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          2  Gennaro from Queens.

          3                 The next questioner is Council Member

          4  Comrie.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Thank you,

          6  Mr. Chair.

          7                 Just in essence, so that this means

          8  that none of these properties that you have given us

          9  on this list today will be impacted until August,

         10  right?

         11                 You are moving the timeframe,

         12  primarily?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  No,

         14  no, if the law is extended today, we will have a Tax

         15  Lien Sale in May.  We will send 60 day notices in

         16  March, later this month, just as we have for most of

         17  the last ten years.  We would then, the bill would

         18  then expire again in August with the idea that we

         19  would sit down and have more formal discussions

         20  about some of the other changes you may want to

         21  discuss, and again, we are open to discussing those

         22  before August, but this would just allow us to do

         23  the sale at the normal time.

         24                 So, you would get lists of people in

         25  your district who are at risk of having a lien sold,
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          2  so that we can work with you to help them avoid the

          3  lien sale.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  But has it

          5  not normally been that the people have until June to

          6  do redemption?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  No,

          8  it is normally mid- March to mid- or late May.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay, but

         10  there has normally been an extension granted the

         11  last couple of years, hasn't there, for people to-

         12  there has been normally an extension granted on a

         13  time for a redemption for most people, if they put

         14  in a request for an extension as they are trying to

         15  get loans together, is that until June the last

         16  couple of years?

         17                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  I

         18  think what happens, when individuals come to us and

         19  say they are in the process of securing a loan that

         20  is going to allow them to pay the debt, we can

         21  remove them from the Lien Sale pool, and we are

         22  happy to do that, we do that on an individual basis.

         23    There is nothing in the- it is not a prescribed

         24  program, but if somebody comes to us and says,`we

         25  are going to get this loan in five days, it is going
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          2  to allow us to pay back the debt.'  We remove them

          3  from the Lien Sale pool, the lien is not sold, and

          4  then they pay the Department of Finance, as opposed

          5  to the servicer.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay, so this

          7  list of senior and veterans liens, these are the

          8  people that you are going to file against in March?

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  No, I

         10  am sorry, that list is historical data over ten

         11  years that we provided to the Council because

         12  Chairman Weprin and Council Member Yassky had asked

         13  to see how many properties had had liens sold that

         14  had had certain exemptions.

         15                 The lien pool candidate we are

         16  finalizing, really, as we speak, it is probably

         17  going to be several thousand properties.  Last year

         18  it was about 8,600 properties that were listed as

         19  candidates, and we wound up selling 2,100, or almost

         20  2,200 liens out of the initial 8,600.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay, what is

         22  the difference between a sold lien and an un- sold

         23  eligible lien?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  Well,

         25  that means that they received a notice in March, and

                                                            23

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  then they came forward and paid, so we did not have

          3  to sell the lien.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  So

          6  they paid the Department of Finance before the 60

          7  days were up.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay, so it

          9  is great.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  And

         11  the vast majority of people who receive notices do

         12  that, they enter into an installment agreement

         13  typically with us.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay.

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  Or

         16  there is an error and they did not actually owe the

         17  money, and we resolved the error.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  So, this

         19  large list with 209 properties, these are people

         20  that actually did the redemption?

         21                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  Well,

         22  most of them have probably been redeemed, but we

         23  looked at just properties that had the senior

         24  citizen home owner exemption, and the veterans

         25  exemption, and the disabled homeowners exemption
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          2  over the last ten years since the lien sale started

          3  in 1996, in part, to help your colleagues analyze

          4  some data, and it turned out that about 200

          5  properties fit that category.  That is totally

          6  separate from the list that is going to be published

          7  in the newspaper on March 14th, showing who is

          8  eligible this year.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  And we will

         10  get a complete copy of that list as you have done in

         11  the past couple of years?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  We

         13  are going to break it down by council district so

         14  that you can help us reach out to people and get

         15  them to us before the lien is sold.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Right, and

         17  you are going to do local opportunities for people

         18  to come out and get this resolved?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  Yes,

         20  Sir.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay, because

         22  the Commissioner's office has been good at doing

         23  evening opportunities for people to come out and do

         24  these resolutions.

         25                 And you are still combining this with
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          2  the water?

          3                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  And any other

          5  charges that may be incurred against the person, so

          6  that they can do one- stop shopping for any liens

          7  that are attached to their homes?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:

          9  Right, it is the same charges.  Nothing would

         10  change, they are all eligible, what we call property

         11  related charges.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay, okay,

         13  so we do not have the actual list yet, but we will

         14  get it soon?

         15                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  You

         16  will have it soon, assuming that you pass the bill

         17  today.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay, all

         19  right, thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

         21  Council member.

         22                 Council Member Brewer.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you,

         24  two quick comments.

         25                 One, in terms of the seniors and
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          2  picking up on David Yassky, I know that many

          3  seniors, obviously, get SHIP, and obviously

          4  veterans, some of them get benefits, but there would

          5  be some that would make a little bit more than what

          6  SHIP requires and I would consider them, perhaps,

          7  still low- income, so I am just saying there is a

          8  little discrepancy there in terms of these are the

          9  only seniors who would fit the criteria.  I just

         10  throw that out knowing what- SHIP is a pretty low

         11  ceiling.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER: Right.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  The second

         14  question I have is in terms of the- whatever the

         15  number is of people who never do pay and who have to

         16  go into lien, is there any kind of a way of

         17  categorizing them.  In other words, they are

         18  obviously people who do not enter agreements, who

         19  are absent- I do not know, I was just wondering what

         20  would- is there any kind of overall criteria-

         21  overall category that you could put them in?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  You

         23  mean in terms of describing who this, so for

         24  instance--.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Yes, in other
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          2  words, the people who never pay, yes, who actually

          3  end up in a lien sale situation.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  Well,

          5  last year- I think the historical data shows that

          6  something like about 25 percent of the people are

          7  Class I- is that what the number is, actually that

          8  Nadine had given me earlier.  We could certainly do

          9  a breakdown of say, 26 percent of those were Class

         10  I's, yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Were class

         12  I's, okay.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  Now,

         14  some of those may be vacant properties as well

         15  because when we looked at data on foreclosures, for

         16  instance, we found that prior to the lien sale, the

         17  City as Chairman Weprin mentioned, the City used to

         18  take about 1,100 properties a year.

         19                 Since the lien sale, the total number

         20  of properties that have been taken, that have been

         21  foreclosed on, is 1,800 properties in ten years.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  So that is

         23  the In- Rem number?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  That

         25  is properties, not In- Rem, that have been
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          2  foreclosed on, a lien was sold, then the lien

          3  servicer was unable to collect, so they started a

          4  foreclosure proceeding.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:

          7  Seven- hundred and forty- five of those properties

          8  were Class I, and of the 745, 495 of them were

          9  vacant land.

         10                 So I suspect, and I can look at the

         11  2,100 that were sold last year, but I suspect that

         12  of the Class I properties, many of those were

         13  probably vacant, that is probably one of the reasons

         14  they did not pay.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.  Thank

         16  you, Mr. Chairman.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Sure, thank you.

         18                 Council Member Vann.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Thank you, Mr.

         20  Chairman.

         21                 First of all, I will commend you and

         22  your agency for the last four or five years you have

         23  been working very well with my office as we hold

         24  these forums every year to try to get those who are

         25  at risk to take care of it before it gets to the
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          2  point of having the lien sold.  You bring in DEP and

          3  HPD, and it is been working quite well, and I want

          4  to thank you for that.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  Thank

          6  you.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  I think you

          8  just gave a number that I was going to ask my

          9  question about, and that is the number who liens are

         10  sold will ultimately go into foreclosure.

         11                 Would you tell me what that

         12  percentage or that number is again?

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  Well,

         14  I can tell you that since 1996, we have sold liens

         15  on 27,805 properties.  That is over the ten years,

         16  and there have been 1,822 foreclosures.

         17                 So, a very, very small percentage of

         18  properties

         19  get- have to face a foreclosure.  The vast majority

         20  of people pay us during the notice period, and then

         21  if a lien is sold, they pay the lien servicer.  So,

         22  it is actually not only a effective collection tool

         23  for us, but far fewer properties are being

         24  foreclosed on than they had been before the lien

         25  sale started.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  All right, now

          3  a Class I property, which is basically a one and a

          4  three.

          5                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:

          6  Right.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  It would have

          8  to be three years delinquency in taxes before they

          9  are eligible for the pool.

         10                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  Yes,

         11  Sir.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  What percentage

         13  of them pay off their taxes after they go into the

         14  pool?

         15                 I mean, they have three years that

         16  they are delinquent, I do not know why they did not

         17  pay it but then, once the lien is going to be sold,

         18  a large percentage is going to actually pay?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  They

         20  typically enter into an installment agreement with

         21  us.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Into an

         23  agreement?

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  Yes,

         25  in which they pay ten percent down.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Okay, what

          3  percentage of those fall back again, become

          4  delinquent again, and fall prey to this pool?  Do

          5  you have any--?

          6                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  I

          7  will have to look. I do not know that offhand.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Is there a

          9  rolling number, is there a number of people who are

         10  delinquent, in and out, in and out?

         11                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  I

         12  think we can certainly identify the number of one,

         13  two, three family owners who have had a lien sold.

         14  I am sorry, entered into an installment agreement

         15  with us, and then defaulted on the agreement and

         16  then wound up in a subsequent, you know, in a lien

         17  sale the following year say.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Okay.

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  We

         20  changed the rules a couple of years ago, I am

         21  reminded, that if you defaulted on an installment

         22  agreement, you had to pay in full, or be sold again,

         23  and so that has helped- that has incentivized people

         24  to not default on their agreements.  But we can try

         25  to get you the percentages.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Yes, my other

          3  line of inquiry, one in three families, since it

          4  requires three years to be eligible for this pool,

          5  or to qualify, it makes it seem like something good

          6  to qualify for this pool.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  The ombudsman,

          9  that you said you have in each borough, when does he

         10  or she come into play, at what point in this process

         11  do they play a role?

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  Well,

         13  the ombudsman is- ombusperson, is sitting right

         14  here, she has an office in Manhattan but during the

         15  noticing period, we have people in each borough who

         16  work in the payment centers, along with folks from

         17  DEP to help, not only help collect, but also to talk

         18  to people who come in and say,`I am confused about

         19  this bill, I do not think I owe this, or you know,

         20  this seems to be incorrect', so we look up their

         21  records, and we try to help them resolve it.

         22                 So, during the 60 day period, we have

         23  somebody in ever borough dedicated to doing that.

         24  During the rest of the year, we just have somebody,

         25  and a team of people in Manhattan.  It is not just
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          2  her, and some staffers.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Okay, I guess

          4  that is my point, particularly one in three.  If we

          5  could get to them earlier on, since it takes three

          6  years, for instance, when the person is one year

          7  delinquent, if we had the ability, the proactive

          8  ability, to find out what is the problem with this

          9  particular homeowner, perhaps we could reduce that

         10  number even far greater than waiting until three

         11  years when they have got to go through this

         12  particular answer.

         13                 Do we have that capacity?

         14                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  Yes,

         15  and I agree. We are actually working with HPD to do

         16  that.  We are giving the Housing, Preservation and

         17  Development lists of homeowners who are not at the

         18  three year stage, but maybe at the two or one year

         19  stage, so that they can do some outreach to those

         20  folks because, clearly, it is easier to get a loan

         21  with a little more time. Sometimes it takes time to

         22  get the loan you need to pay back your debt, so

         23  obviously HPD is in a much better position than we

         24  are at finance to help homeowners.  So, we are

         25  working with them to do just that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  And I would

          3  suggest, since it is a sensitive situation and some

          4  homeowners are not all that forthcoming,

          5  particularly with people they do not know and coming

          6  from Administration, we might consider working

          7  through some of the community- based organizations

          8  that have relationships and ties to do that.

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  Yes,

         10  we actually that.

         11                 In fact, the outreach that we

         12  coordinated last year with HPD was through

         13  community- based organizations, and we will continue

         14  to do that.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Okay, thank

         16  you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

         18  Council member.

         19                 We have been joined by a few more

         20  Council members. We have Council Member Alan Gerson

         21  of Manhattan, and Council Member Lew Fidler from

         22  Brooklyn.

         23                 The next questioner is Council Member

         24  Helen Sears.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you, Mr.
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          2  Chair.

          3                 I am not sure if my question is for

          4  the Chair or the agency.

          5                 We have a lot of papers before us,

          6  and when I look at that, it looks to me like my

          7  district or a part of it, is not in very good shape,

          8  if I look at what is out here.

          9                 So, I am not sure what this document

         10  means where it says,`they are sold senior and

         11  veterans liens'.  So, if I  can have an explanation

         12  for this because that would follow, and I direct to

         13  the Chair, and also to Councilman Comrie because the

         14  question is for those that come up, I wonder how

         15  many are involved with predatory lending, and I do

         16  not know how that can be addressed, but we certainly

         17  passed a bill here, and when I am looking at what is

         18  effected, it would not surprise me if predatory

         19  lending is a major influence in this?  And I do not

         20  know, I mean, I know that that is not an area that

         21  you deal with but there is something not right.

         22                 When you say that we get information

         23  to do that, here I am looking at something that

         24  says,`sold senior and veteran liens', does that mean

         25  that these are already sold?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:

          3  Sorry, I think again, what you are looking at is the

          4  historical data from`96 to 2005.  Those liens were

          5  sold but we do do is we provide--.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  But then why

          7  does it end up in the unsold area on another page?

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  The

          9  same property?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Yes, that is

         11  why I am a little confused here.

         12                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  They

         13  may have fallen into arrears again in the future and

         14  had another lien sold.  It is possible.  I mean, I

         15  did not actually match the two, but what I would

         16  just say about the predatory lending is we, although

         17  we are not the housing agency, we do take it very

         18  seriously.

         19                 In our outreach material, and also in

         20  a flyer that we send to every property owner who is

         21  at risk of having a lien sold, we include

         22  information that HPD drafted for us that tells

         23  people what to look for in terms of predatory

         24  lenders, and how to avoid predatory lenders.

         25                 HPD does go out with us into the
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          2  districts for those evening outreach sessions to

          3  meet with people, and discuss with them, and again,

          4  we also work with the community- based organizations

          5  who have a lot more experience with this than we do.So

          6  , we are very mindful of the fact that there are

          7  sharks out there, and we want to do everything that

          8  we can to get them the information to avoid that.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  All right,

         10  thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.

         12                 Council Member Koppell.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Actually,

         14  Council Member Sears raised the issue that I was

         15  going to raise, and I want to follow up on it a

         16  little bit.

         17                 Is there any monitoring of the people

         18  who are lending money to the taxpayers who are

         19  borrowing the money to pay their taxes?  Because, I

         20  mean the predatory lending can impact in a number of

         21  ways, but I can see it impacting here particularly

         22  acutely because the persons facing the sale of the

         23  lien, which causes them concern because they know

         24  that the lien purchaser may foreclose on them, and

         25  also knows that once it gets transferred, I assume
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          2  there are more expenses in paying off the arrears

          3  once it is sold to the trust, or to whoever is

          4  buying the liens.

          5                 So, I am wondering whether there is

          6  any monitoring being done to see how are the people

          7  getting the money to pay the lien.  Because as you

          8  mentioned, sharks, I think they are the sharks

          9  circling in the waters in front of the office where

         10  the checks are being received by you saying,`come on

         11  over, we will pay it off for you', and then, making

         12  deals with these homeowners which ultimately results

         13  in the homeowners oftentimes loosing.

         14                 I know specific instances where they

         15  do all kinds of things, transfer title, take large

         16  liens themselves, and so on.

         17                 Is there any monitoring of that going

         18  on?  How people are paying you?  Any follow up?

         19                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  I do

         20  not know that we at the Department of Finance

         21  monitor, or ask folks who come to us,`how did you

         22  pay, tell us about the loan you received.'  I think

         23  what I would want to do is follow up with HPD, and

         24  maybe our treasury department in terms of the

         25  banking services to explore that possibility.  I do
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          2  not believe we do that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  I think that

          4  is very, very important.  I mean, I know of numerous

          5  instances.  That is when the people get taken

          6  advantage of because they are in such crisis.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  We

          8  certainly would follow- I mean, if people complained

          9  to us about that, we would certainly follow up and

         10  refer it to the appropriate authority but in

         11  terms--.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Well, maybe

         13  in a non coercive way, ask people to give you

         14  information if they are willing as to what kind of

         15  arrangements they made to pay the lien because that

         16  is where people get into trouble.  You probably

         17  never hear about it.  You get paid the lien and

         18  say,`oh great, we got the lien paid', but then the

         19  person in paying off the lien makes an unwise

         20  assignment of rights.

         21                 The other issue is, I am now talking

         22  about multiple dwellings, and I realize that things

         23  are much better now than they were because the

         24  housing market is so much stronger, but where the

         25  lien is sold to a purchaser, and then that purchaser
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          2  has to foreclose to collect the amount of the lien,

          3  at the auction what happens when that multiple

          4  dwelling is then sold in the foreclosure sale?

          5                 Is the City still involved in any way

          6  to deal with who purchases that building?

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:

          8  Margaret will take this one.

          9                 MS. DONADIO:  When a foreclosure

         10  happens, it is completely out of our hands.  We are

         11  notified that the foreclosures are happening, and

         12  basically it is held in the borough offices, and it

         13  is a bidding process just like any other

         14  foreclosure, whether it be by a bank or mortgage

         15  company.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  But in the

         17  past, when the City foreclosed and they, and there

         18  was no bidder, then the City took over the building

         19  and ran the building.

         20                 MS. DONADIO:  Correct.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Not that

         22  they did a great job, but at least the City got the

         23  building.

         24                 MS. DONADIO:  If there is no

         25  successful bid at a foreclosure auction, the
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          2  servicing company assumes ownership of the property,

          3  and then markets it at a lower rate, so they eat the

          4  difference.

          5                 In other words, if they get less than

          6  what the initial bid is, they end up loosing the

          7  money, we do not.  We have already been paid.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Right, is

          9  there any monitoring done to assure that the tenants

         10  in the multiple dwelling have any protection in this

         11  process?

         12                 MS. DONADIO:  They are absolutely

         13  noticed.  They are notified that the building has

         14  been sold in a lien sale.  They are notified that

         15  there is going to be a foreclosure auction.  It is

         16  all filed in the courts.  They are listed, the

         17  tenants are listed in the caption on the foreclosure

         18  lists.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Does the HPD

         20  have any program to purchase buildings where they go

         21  into foreclosure, those buildings?

         22                 MS. DONADIO:  That is a separate

         23  program, that is their Third- Party Transfer

         24  Program, the In- Rem, that is separate from our

         25  foreclosure program.  That is separate from the Tax
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          2  Lien Sale.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  But when

          4  does that happen?

          5                 MS. DONADIO:  It is separate from tax

          6  lien.  There is actually interim actions running

          7  right now.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  So, when is

          9  a decision made whether the lien is sold or an In-

         10  Rem action is commenced?  How is that decision made?

         11                 MS. DONADIO:  That is a decision made

         12  solely by HPD. The decide what properties they want

         13  to include in a targeted action, as opposed to a tax

         14  lien sale.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  So before

         16  you get the building to sell the lien, the HPD makes

         17  a decision whether they want to foreclose on it

         18  themselves?

         19                 MS. DONADIO:  That is correct.

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER MILLER:  Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Well, it

         22  will be interesting to know how they make that

         23  decision, but I guess that is not your role.

         24                 MS. DONADIO:  Unfortunately, I cannot

         25  answer that.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Thank you,

          3  Mr. Chairman, and by the way, I would like to, since

          4  I am speaking now, compliment the staff.  I read the

          5  memo on the tax liens, and it was a very good

          6  explanation of how the lien program works.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you, so

          8  noted.

          9                 Council Member Fidler.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Thank you,

         11  Mr. Chairman.

         12                 Just a couple of points at the

         13  opposite end of the spectrum, and I make them

         14  because I know that by passing an extender of the

         15  Tax Lien Program for six months, it is our intention

         16  to come and look more globally at the process, and

         17  see whether or not there are improvements that can

         18  be made.

         19                 Lawyers know the phrase, the law

         20  abhors a foreclosure, but there are certain

         21  circumstances that each of us, I am sure, would

         22  recognize in our district where the process takes

         23  too long, and I will be reintroducing a bill that

         24  would expedite the process of foreclosure on

         25  properties where there are arrears that have clearly
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          2  been abandoned.  I am referring to Class I

          3  properties.  The properties that have become a

          4  blight.

          5                 Everyone of us knows which house in

          6  our neighborhood becomes the one that gets boarded

          7  up repeatedly, gets broke into, there are fires, and

          8  it becomes the single greatest destination of the

          9  police.  And clearly, the owner has decided they

         10  have no interest in this property, and so, on that

         11  end we have to be looking to expedite the process in

         12  that unusual circumstance.

         13                 On the other end, I am concerned not

         14  just about the predatory lending, I think, and I had

         15  a meeting with an organization, a not- for- profit

         16  organization known as the Parodnick (phonetic)

         17  Foundation, that does in fact, do remediation

         18  particularly for seniors in predatory circumstances

         19  a year ago, and so we need to be prepared in this

         20  City for what is going to happen when the real

         21  estate bubble, not even bursts, but levels off

         22  because I have, and I am sure each one of us has,

         23  many, many, many homeowners who have taken every

         24  penny of equity out of their properties, it is not

         25  necessarily predatory to be getting 100 percent loan
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          2  to value refinance or purchase price, and the people

          3  who are doing it are doing it because they believe

          4  that in five years when the interest only payments

          5  turn into principle and interest, that they will

          6  have sufficient equity in their home to refinance,

          7  and if property values do not continue to rise, that

          8  is not going to happen.  Those loans are not going

          9  to be available, and we are then going to have a

         10  massive crisis of foreclosure in the City.

         11                 So, we need to be looking at

         12  something that is going to be prophylactic during

         13  this six month period of time, so that tax lien

         14  sales do not become so much more common than they

         15  are, and so, I am raising this to raise the

         16  conscienceness level of this Committee and my

         17  colleagues on the Council, and suggest that we need

         18  to be working on something before the crisis happens

         19  this time that is going to empower, or find a

         20  mechanism by which community based organizations are

         21  able to come in before the foreclosure happens,

         22  before the crisis happens, so that even people who

         23  do not have loans that we would consider predatory

         24  but just they are, unfortunately, common, and they

         25  get into trouble that all those people do not wind
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          2  up in foreclosure, as I think will ultimately and

          3  inevitably happen because real estate cannot

          4  continue to do what it has been doing for the last

          5  ten years, for the next ten.

          6                 So, I just raise that and hope that

          7  we will be able to come back to both of those issues

          8  soon.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

         10  Council member.

         11                 Any further questions?

         12                 Seeing none, thank you very much.

         13                 We are going to hear testimony on the

         14  proposed BID, and then we will vote on both items.

         15                 We have Deputy Commissioner of the

         16  Department of Small Business Services, George

         17  Glatter, if you could come forward, and as Mr.

         18  Glatter is coming up, I am going to call upon

         19  Council Member Kendall Stewart to make a brief

         20  statement on the proposed BID in his district.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you,

         23  Mr. Chair.

         24                 Colleagues, I think that you know

         25  already that the Flatbush Junction is in the center
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          2  of my district in Brooklyn, and the 45th District

          3  which is my district, is in the center of Brooklyn,

          4  where New York begins.

          5                 You know that already, it is very,

          6  very important that we know that BIDs help

          7  communities and businesses in our City, and so, it

          8  is important that we support this BID.  The

          9  Community Board has approved it.  The Planning

         10  Commission has approved it. The Borough President

         11  has approved it.  I have approved it, and I am

         12  expecting you to support us on this resolution.

         13                 Thank you, colleagues, thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

         16  Council member.

         17                 Mr. Glatter.

         18                 MR. GLATTER:  Okay, thank you, thank

         19  you Mr. Chairman.

         20                 Good morning, Mr. Chairman and

         21  members of the Finance Committee.

         22                 I am George Glatter, Assistant

         23  Commissioner of the Department of Small Business

         24  Services.  SBS supports the City Council resolution

         25  setting the date, time and place for the public

                                                            48

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2  hearing concerning the establishment of the

          3  Flatbush- Nostrand Junction Business Improvement

          4  District in the borough of Brooklyn.

          5                 The Flatbush- Nostrand Junction BID's

          6  Steering Committee has successfully completed

          7  outreach work consistent with SBS Program Rules.

          8                 In addition, SBS has reviewed the

          9  boundaries of the proposed Flatbush- Nostrand

         10  Junction BID, and found the boundaries to be

         11  acceptable.  The proposed BID includes properties on

         12  Flatbush Avenue, from Farragut Road on the north to

         13  the Long Island Railroad cut on the south.  Nostrand

         14  Avenue, from Glenwood Road on the north to the Long

         15  Island Railroad cut on the south.  Hillel Place,

         16  between Flatbush Avenue and Campus Road, and

         17  Glenwood Road, from just west of Flatbush Avenue to

         18  Nostrand Avenue.

         19                 SBS will arrange for the publication

         20  of the summary of the City Council resolution at

         21  least once in the City Record. The Flatbush-

         22  Nostrand Junction BID Steering Committee will

         23  arrange the mailing of a summary of the resolution

         24  as required by law.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you, Mr.

          3  Glatter.

          4                 Any questions?

          5                 Okay, we are going to couple both

          6  items.

          7                 First the Preconsidered Intro. On the

          8  Tax Lien Extension for a period of six months, and

          9  the second item Reso. 92- A, which is the creation

         10  of a new BID, and it is just set down for a public

         11  hearing on March 22nd, so there will be ample

         12  opportunity to hear feedback on the proposed BID.

         13                 Call the roll, please.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Council Member

         15  Weprin.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN:  Aye on both.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Rivera.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA:  Aye on both.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Reyna.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Aye on both.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Baez.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER BAEZ:  Aye on both.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Brewer.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Aye on both.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Comrie.

                                                            50

          1  COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Aye on both.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Fidler.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Aye.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Gerson.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Let me just

          7  say as I cast my first vote as a member of this

          8  Committee, Mr. Chair, I look forward to working with

          9  you and all of my colleagues in support and in

         10  advancement of the important work of this Committee.

         11                 That being said, aye on both.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Gioia.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Jackson.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Aye on both.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Koppell.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL:  Aye on both.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Sears.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Aye.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Vallone.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Aye.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Vann.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN:  Aye.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Yassky.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Aye.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Gentile.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Aye on both.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Gallagher.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Aye.

          6                 By a vote of 17 in the affirmative,

          7  zero in the negative, and no abstentions, both items

          8  are adopted.

          9                 Council members, please sign the

         10  Committee reports. Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Yes, Councilman

         12  Gennaro had to leave but he indicated that he

         13  intended to vote`aye' on both items, and we are

         14  going to leave the roll open for him prior to the

         15  Stated Meeting.

         16                 Other than that, we are adjourned.

         17                 (Hearing concluded at 11:20 a.m.)
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          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, EMILY GRAVES, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 1st day of March 2006.
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         25                          EMILY GRAVES
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          9            I, EMILY GRAVES, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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